**RECEIVED**

**Apr 19 2023**

**SC Court of Appeals**

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

---

Appeal from Georgetown County

Honorable Robert J. Bonds, Circuit Court Judge

---

THE STATE,

RESPONDENT,

V.

ALEXANDER RHUE, JR.,

APPELLANT.

APPELLATE CASE NO. 2021-001306

---

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

---

KATHRINE H. HUDGINS  
Appellate Defender

South Carolina Commission on Indigent Defense  
Division of Appellate Defense  
PO Box 11589  
Columbia, SC 29211-1589  
(803) 734-1330

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT

**

**STATEMENT OF ISSUE ON APPEAL**

Did the trial judge err in refusing to suppress evidence after finding that the first and second search warrants lacked probable cause but finding that a third search warrant contained sufficient probable cause and the items sought to be suppressed would have been inevitably discovered during the search pursuant to the third search warrant?

## STATEMENT OF THE CASE

In July of 2017, the Georgetown County Grand Jury indicted<sup>1</sup> Appellant, Alexander Rhue Jr., for obstruction of justice, two counts of criminal conspiracy, murder, and desecration of human remains, indictments 2017-GS-22-870-874. (R. p. 1861). Appellant's sister, Tiesh Annette Rhue and father, Alexander Rhue, Sr. were also indicted on these charges. (R. p. 353, lines 10-25). On September 24, 2021, the Honorable Robert J. Bonds heard pre-trial motions with regard to all three co-defendants. (R. pp. 1-59). Gregory Voight represented Appellant. Ronald Hazzard represented co-defendant Alexander Rhue, Sr. William Edgeworth represented co-defendant Tiesh Rhue. Alicia Richardson and Elizabeth Smith represented the State. On October 11, 2021, Appellant and the two co-defendants proceeded to jury trial before the Honorable J. Bonds. The same lawyers who represented the parties during the pre-trial hearing represented them at trial.

During the trial the State elected to dismiss the conspiracy charges. (R. 1362, lines 13-18). The judge directed a verdict of acquittal on the desecration of human remains charges. (R. p. 1604, line 21 – p. 1605, lines 1-20). The jury found Appellant guilty of murder and obstruction of justice. The jury found the co-defendant, Tiesh Rhue guilty of murder and obstruction of justice. The jury found the co-defendant Alexander Rhue, Sr. not guilty of murder but guilty of obstruction of justice. The judge sentenced Appellant and his sister to thirty-seven (37) years for murder and eight (8) years concurrent for obstruction. (R. pp. 1807-1808). The judge sentenced Alexander Rhue Sr. to eight (8) years provided upon the service of 549 days time suspended with three (3) years of probation. (R. p. 1806, lines 7-16). Appellant served a timely notice of intent to appeal on November 2, 2021. This appeal follows.

---

<sup>1</sup> It is unclear who testified before the Grand Jury as the witness is listed as the Georgetown Police Department.

### **STANDARD OF REVIEW**

“Accordingly, appellate review of a motion to suppress based on the Fourth Amendment involves a two-step analysis. This dual inquiry means we review the trial court’s factual findings for any evidentiary support, but the ultimate legal conclusion—in this case whether reasonable suspicion exists—is a question of law subject to de novo review.” State v. Frasier, No. 2020-001405, 2022 WL 4491598, at \*2 (S.C. Sept. 28, 2022)

## STATEMENT OF FACTS

On March 9, 2017, Leon Harris Sr. reported that his adult son, Leon Harris Jr, [JR] was missing. (R. p. 471, lines 14-20). Harris Sr. reported that he last saw his son on February 23, 2017. (R. p. 472, lines 10-15). An officer conceded that a police report included information that Harris Sr. was afraid that something bad had happened to his son, JR, because he was selling drugs to the Mexicans. (R. p. 570, line 17 – p. 571, 572, lines 1-10). The officer testified that he interviewed Luis Flores who admitted buying drugs from JR. (R. p. 574, lines 7-15; p. 607, lines 1-3). Investigator Allen Morrison was questioned about the fact that prior to JR being reported missing, three men were searching for him by the Black River, where his body was later found. (R. p. 1287, line 17 – p. 1288, lines 1-11).

JR's Department of Motor Vehicle information listed his address on Highmarket Street in Georgetown. (R. p. 477, lines 22-23). Officers with the Georgetown Police Department learned that JR lived at the Highmarket address with his wife Tiesh Rhue. (R. p. 477, line 24 – p. 478, lines 1-6). The police talked with Tiesh at her workplace at the steel mill. (R. p. 478, lines 5-23). Tiesh told the police that she last saw JR. at the house on Highmarket Street on the night of February 25, 2017. (R. p. 479, lines 1-19). She told the police that they argued about him talking with another woman, he gathered some clothes and left. Kyle Walton, formerly with the Georgetown Police Department, testified that based on a Facebook post he interviewed Calvin Thomas, a friend of JR. (R. p. 1066, lines 7-20). Thomas told Walton that on the night of February 25, 2017, he saw JR walking near the old Bank of America building at the intersection of Highmarket and Fraser Streets. (R. p. 1067, lines 5-23).

Roasario Grate, JR's girlfriend, testified that she last saw JR on the evening of February 25, 2017, when she picked him up from work. (R. p. 625, lines 8-14). She testified that they ran

some errands and then she dropped JR off at his dad's house. (R. p. 625, lines 21-23). Grate testified that around 10:00 PM that night she received phone calls from Tiesh on JR's phone. (R. p. 630, line 7 – p. 631, lines 1-13). Grate also testified about a verbal altercation that took place on New Year's Eve at the Riverview Club between JR, Tiesh and Appellant, Tiesh's brother, Alexander Rhue, Jr. (R. p. 634, line 25 – p. 635, 636, lines 1-4). Grate testified that on the night of February 25, 2017, she went out with friends and JR was supposed to meet her out later but never made it. (R. p. 629, line 14 – p. 630, lines 1-4; p. 634, lines 13-21).

The next day, March 10, 2017, Tiesh agreed to a recorded interview with the police at the station. (R. p. 485, line 1 – p. 486, lines 1-12). A properly redacted version of the interview was admitted in evidence, without objections, as State's Exhibit #21. (R. p. 497, lines 6-16). After the interview on March 10, 2017, officers obtained a search warrant for the house on Highmarket Street. (R. p. 1168, lines 1-17, R. p. 1818). After finding stained carpet padding, missing carpet, and a presumptive positive blood test, officers obtained a second search warrant. (R. p. 1175, lines 9-11; R. p. 1823). Samples were collected and sent for analysis. One DNA analyst testified that the deceased could not be excluded from one of the samples. (R. p. 1489, lines 19-22). Another DNA analyst testified that DNA profiles developed from the carpet padding and spot on the wall matched the DNA profile of the deceased. (R. p. 1513, lines 1-11; p. 1521, lines 17-25). Appellant's DNA was not found in the bedroom where these sample were collected.

After the search of the house, the police again interviewed Tiesh on March 11, 2017. (R. p. 523, line 21 – p. 524, lines 1-25). A properly redacted version of the interview was admitted in evidence, without objections, as State's Exhibit #27. (R. p. 525, lines 1-14). The police also interviewed Alexander Rhue Sr., Tiesh and Appellant's father. (R. p. 526, line 6 – p. 527, lines 1-

13). A properly redacted version of the interview was admitted in evidence, without objections, as State's Exhibit #28. (R. p. 527, line 14 – p. 528, lines-1-4).

That same day, March 11, 2017, a dead body was found in the Black River. (R. p. 712, lines 4-15). The body was taken out of the water, placed in a body bag and released to the coroner. (R. p. 728, lines 11-15). An officer testified that they searched the area near where the body was found, which included the Riverview Club, but they did not find any additional evidence. (R. p. 727, line 10 – p. 728, lines 1-10). The forensic pathologist testified that when she received the body the hands and ankles were bound with speaker wire. (R. p. 812, lines 16-25; p. 1204, lines 17-20). The pathologist testified that the cause of death was homicidal violence. (R. p. 838, lines 2-3). The body was later identified as Leon Harris Jr, "JR.," by a tattoo on his arm. (R. p. 394, lines 7-25).

On March 13, 2017, Appellant provided a recorded statement to police. A properly redacted version of the interview was admitted in evidence, without objections, as State's Exhibit #97. (R. p. 1058, line 12 - p. 1059, 1060, lines 1-10). On March 14, 2017, officers obtained a third search warrant for the house on Highmarket Street. (R. p. 544, lines 7-18). On March 15, 2017, officers again interviewed the father, Alexander Rhue Sr. (R. p. 549, line 7 – p. 550, lines 1-15). The interview was admitted in evidence, without objections, as State's Exhibit #29. (R. p. 550, lines 16-25). On March 22, 2017, officers again interviewed Tiesh. (R. p. 1247, line 10 – p. 1248, lines 1-17). A properly redacted version of the interview was admitted in evidence, without objections, as State's Exhibit #107. (R. p. 1248, lines 18-25).

Investigator Allen Morris testified at trial that, based on the interviews with Tiesh, Rhue, Sr. and Rhue Jr., he understood that all three were at the Highmarket Street house on the night of February 25, 2017, into the morning of February 26, 2017. (R. p. 1217, line 20 – p. 1218, lines 1-

15). On March 29, 2017, based on cellular phone records obtained, investigators obtained surveillance video from Walmart for the evening of February 25, 2017, into the early morning of February 26, 2017. (R. p. 567, line 11 – p. 568, lines 1-20). After reviewing the video, Investigator Morris testified that he saw a subject who matched the description of Rhue Sr. (R. p. 1221, lines 3-14). The investigator testified, over objection, that another person with Rhue Sr. in the video was the Appellant, Rhue Jr. (R. p. 1241, lines 9-23). An employee from Walmart testified that the customer purchased two bottles of hydrogen peroxide. (R. p. 1133, lines 9-24).

At the close of the State's case Appellant moved for a directed verdict of acquittal. (R. p. 1582, line 23 – p. 1583 -1587). In arguing against the directed verdict motion the State relied on testimony from Antwan Simmons, a cousin of the deceased. (R. p. 1587, line 22 – p. 1588, line 1). At trial Simmons claimed that, during a trip to Myrtle Beach to pick up furniture with Appellant and Shawn Simmons, Appellant asked about JR and then said, "Well, that fucker out of here, I took that nigga for a ride." (R. p. 757, lines 14-17). The third person in the truck, Shawn Simmons, did not testify at trial. The State also relied on testimony from a jail house snitch, Austin Kight, who claimed that Appellant told him, ". . . that they didn't have anything on him and that we dumped the body. And the only way they would know that it was – they guy was – there were tattoos that was on his arm." (R. p. 1588, lines 1-2; p. 882, line 25 – p. 883, lines 1-3). The State additionally relied on the testimony of Meyan Thomas, another cousin of the deceased and purported friend of Appellant. (R. p. 1588, lines 3-6). Thomas testified that at 3:05 AM on February 26, 2017, she received a text from Appellant that said, "Boo, I'm in D.C., had a family emergency, ASAP, had to catch the Greyhound up here. I'll explain more later. Love you, Queen. I'm sorry. I'll hit you tomorrow. Shit is real crazy right now. Love you." (R. p. 737, line 12 – p. 738, lines 1-14). The State's case against Appellant was based on these three alleged statements,

and the purported inconsistency about his whereabouts on February 25-26, 2017. The judge denied the motion for directed verdict stating, “I will tell you that, as it relates to the murder charge for Mr. Rhue Jr., while it may not be very strong, sir, I think there definitely is evidence that’s been presented that is going to allow that charge to go to the jury. I think by virtue of the testimony alone.” (R. p. 1600, line 21 – p. 1601, line 1). The judge directed a verdict of acquittal for the desecration of human remains charges against all three defendants.

## ARGUMENT

**The trial judge erred in refusing to suppress evidence after finding that the first and second search warrants lacked probable cause but finding that a third search warrant contained sufficient probable cause and the items sought to be suppressed would have been inevitably discovered during the search pursuant to the third search warrant.**

On September 24, 2021, prior to the trial that began on October 11, 2021, the judge heard pre-trial motions. (R. pp. 1-59). Appellant submitted a written motion to suppress and memorandum of law citing both the Fourth Amendment to the United States Constitution and the South Carolina Constitution, art. I, §10. (R. p. 18). The motion addressed three separate search warrants executed on the Highmarket Street house where the deceased and his wife, Tiesh Rhue lived, and where Appellant, Alexander Rhue Jr. and his father, Alexander Rhue Sr., were frequent overnight guests. Appellant argued the motion to suppress during the pre-trial hearing. (R. pp. 18-51). The judge asked the State to submit a memorandum. (R. p. 49, lines 16-22; R. p. 1832).

The judge addressed the motion to suppress in a written order. (R. p. 1858). In the written order the judge wrote:

The attorney for each defendant made a motion to suppress evidence taken from the Defendants' home under three separate search warrant sue to a lack of probable cause. Specifically, the Defense claimed the first search warrant did not note that any crime occurred, the second search warrant was the result of officers finding blood on the carpet after moving a clothing bin and rug from the floor without additional probable cause while looking for documents, and the third warrant was a product of the prior warrants with no additional facts alleged that a crime occurred at the resident. Additionally the Defense argued that the good faith exception does not apply and the any discovered in the home was not inevitable discovery.

(R. p. 1859). The judge found that the first and second search warrants lacked probable cause. (R. p. 1860). With regard to the third search warrant, the judge wrote, "The third search warrant of the Rhue home did have sufficient probable cause independent from the prior warrants. The third search warrant was served after the victim's body was found wrapped in wire, and the warrant sought an several things in the home including wire similar that the kind found on the victim, blood

hair, DNA, weapons, and clothing. Any evidence discovered during the execution of the first and second warrants would have been inevitably discovered during the search under the third search warrant. Therefore, the evidence discovered during the searches shall not be suppressed.” (R. p. 1860). The trial judge correctly found that the first and second search warrants lacked probable cause. The judge, however, erred in finding that the third search warrant provided sufficient probable cause and refusing to suppress evidence based on the inevitable discovery doctrine.

“The Fourth Amendment to the United States Constitution guarantees the right of the people to be free from unreasonable searches and seizures and provides that no warrants shall be issued except upon probable cause, supported by oath or affirmation and particularly describing the place to be searched and the persons or things to be seized.” McHam v. State, 404 S.C. 465, 476, 746 S.E.2d 41, 47 (2013) (citing U.S. Const. amend. IV). In State v. Forrester, 343 S.C. 637, 643, 541 S.E.2d 837, 840 (2001), the South Carolina Supreme Court wrote: “In parallel with the protection of the Fourth Amendment, the South Carolina Constitution also provides a safeguard against unlawful searches and seizures. *See* S.C. Const. art. I. § 10. The relationship between the two constitutions is significant because ‘[s]tate courts may afford more expansive rights under state constitutional provisions than the rights which are conferred by the Federal Constitution.’”

In South Carolina, the General Assembly has imposed stricter requirements than federal law for issuing a search warrant. Search warrants may be issued “only upon affidavit sworn to before the magistrate . . . establishing the grounds for the warrant.” S.C. Code Ann. § 17-13-140; See State v. McKnight, 291 S.C. 110, 352 S.E.2d 471 (1987). “The affidavit must set forth particular facts and circumstances underlying the existence of probable cause to allow the magistrate to make an independent evaluation of the matter.” Baccus, 367 S.C. at 50-51, 625 S.E.2d at 221 (citing Franks v. Delaware, 438 U.S. 154 (1978)). If no supplemental testimony is

taken, a magistrate's probable cause determination is limited to the four corners of the search warrant affidavit. State v. Kinloch, 410 S.C. 612, 617, 767 S.E.2d 153, 155 (2014) (citing State v. Herring, 387 S.C. 201, 214, 692 S.E.2d 490, 497 (2009)).

### **Search Warrant #1**

The trial judge correctly found that the first search warrant lacked probable cause. Under the description of property sought the affidavit in support of the first search warrant reads, "Investigators are searching for bank records, legal documents, identifications, passports, debit/credit cards, phone records, vehicle information, insurance paperwork, travel documents, or anything that can aid investigators in ascertaining the whereabouts of Leon Harrison Jr." (R. p. 1819). Under the reason for affiant's belief that the property sought is on the subject premises the affidavit reads:

On 2/25/2017 subject Leon Harrison Jr. was last seen at the address on his SC DMV \*\*\*\* Highmarket St. in the City of Georgetown by his wife. He has not been seen since. Johnson maintains a domicile at this residence and he is known to stay there from time to time and keeps work clothing there. Due to the above stated facts there is probable cause to believe that the requested documentary evidence may be in the home and a search warrant is being requested. These documents will help to track Harrison's movements and will aid in locating him and reuniting him with his family.

(R. p. 1820).

S.C. Code Ann. § 17-13-140 provides:

Any magistrate or recorder or city judge having the powers of magistrates, or any judge of any court of record of the State having jurisdiction over the area where the property sought is located, may issue a search warrant to search for and seize (1) stolen or embezzled property; (2) property, the possession of which is unlawful; (3) property which is being used or has been used in the commission of a criminal offense or is possessed with the intent to be used as the means for committing a criminal offense or is concealed to prevent a criminal offense from being discovered; (4) property constituting evidence of crime or tending to show that a particular person committed a criminal offense; (5) any narcotic drugs, barbiturates, amphetamines or other drugs restricted to sale, possession, or use on prescription only, which are manufactured, possessed, controlled, sold, prescribed,

administered, dispensed or compounded in violation of any of the laws of this State or of the United States. Narcotics, barbiturates or other drugs seized hereunder shall be disposed of as provided by § 44-53-520.

The property sought in the affidavit did not comply with the statute. Additionally, the search warrant lacked probable cause. “A search warrant may issue only upon a finding of probable cause.” State v. Bellamy, 336 S.C. 140, 143, 519 S.E.2d 347, 348 (1999). The duty of the appellate court is simply to determine whether the magistrate had a substantial basis for concluding that probable cause existed. Id. at 144, 519 S.E.2d at 349 (citing Illinois v. Gates, 462 U.S. 213, 238–39, 103 S.Ct. 2317, 76 L.Ed.2d 527 (1983)). “The task of the issuing magistrate is simply to make a practical, common sense decision whether, given all the circumstances set forth in the affidavit before him ... there is a fair probability that contraband or evidence of a crime will be found in a particular place.” State v. Dunbar, 361 S.C. 240, 253, 603 S.E.2d 615, 622 (Ct.App.2004) (citing Gates, 462 U.S. at 238, 103 S.Ct. 2317). The affidavit fails to provide the magistrate with information to allow the magistrate to find that there is a fair probability that contraband or evidence of a crime will be found at the house. At the time this search warrant issued, March 10, 2017, there was no evidence of a crime, just a missing person report. The affidavit lacked probable cause.

## **Search Warrant #2**

Under the description of property sought the affidavit in support of the second search warrant reads, “Blood evidence, gun powder residue, bullets, fibers, any and all DNA evidence, carpet, blankets, flooring, and trace evidence that could be linked with the location of the missing person.” (R. p. 1824). Under the reason for affiant’s belief that the property sought is on the subject premises the affidavit reads:

On 02/25/2017 the victim Leon Harrison Jr. went missing from his residence at  
\*\*\*\* Highmarket St. in the City of Georgetown. On 03/10/2017 at

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