RECEIVED

Oct 04 2021

S.C. SUPREME COURT

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE SUPREME COURT

On Writ of Certiorari to the Court of Appeals
Appeal from Charleston County
Honorable Deadra L. Jefferson, Circuit Court Judge
Appellate Case No. 2020-001405

THE STATE,

Respondent,

vs.

MICHAEL N. FRASIER, JR.,

Petitioner.

BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

ALAN WILSON
Attorney General

MARK R. FARTHING
Senior Assistant Attorney General

Post Office Box 11549
Columbia, SC 29211
(803) 734-3727

SCARLETT A. WILSON
Solicitor, Ninth Judicial Circuit

O.T. Wallace Building
101 Meeting Street, Suite 400
Charleston, SC 29401
(843) 958-1900

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT

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

In the case sub judice, the primary officers involved in traffic stop—Sergeant Pritchard and Officer Hall—were highly-experienced officers with over a decade in law enforcement who had each conducted drug investigations for a number of years as part of the North Charleston Police Department’s narcotics division. Moreover, Officer Hall had personally conducted thousands of traffic stop, which provided him with significant practical experience concerning

both typical and atypical behavior engaged in by motorists during the course of such stops. Equipped with that specialized background and accompanying knowledge, the officers observed numerous indicators of criminal activity both prior to and during the course of the traffic stop that led them to reasonably—and correctly—suspect Frasier was engaged in criminal activity.⁹ See Arvizu, 534 U.S. at 273 (recognizing law enforcement officers’ experience and specialized training enables them to draw inferences and deductions from cumulative information that could likely be missed by an untrained person).

Specifically, regarding those indicators, Sergeant Pritchard observed Frasier leave a bus station and suspiciously scan the entire parking lot before getting into Jones’s vehicle despite the fact it was parked directly in front of him just a few yards away. In light of his narcotics background and knowledge regarding the regular use of buses by drug traffickers, Sergeant Pritchard perceived that behavior to be suspicious as it appeared to his trained eyes Frasier was checking for rivals or law enforcement officers before proceeding forward, which supported a conclusion he may have been transporting drugs or other contraband.¹⁰ See Sibron v. New York, 392 U.S. 40, 66 (1968) (recognizing “deliberately furtive actions . . . are strong indicia of mens

⁹ Although its propriety has not been challenged on appeal, the initial traffic stop itself was unquestionably proper in light of the fact one of the brake lights on Jones’s vehicle was not working. See S.C. Code Ann. § 56-5-4730 (“When a vehicle is equipped with a stop lamp or other signal lamps, such lamp or lamps shall at all times be maintained in good working condition.”); S.C. Code Ann. § 56-5-5310 (“No person shall drive or move on any highway any vehicle unless the equipment thereon is in good working order and adjustment as required in this chapter and the vehicle is in such safe mechanical condition as not to endanger the driver or other occupant or any person upon the highway.”); see also State v. Vinson, 400 S.C. 347, 352, 734 S.E.2d 182, 184 (Ct. App. 2012) (“A traffic stop is not unreasonable if conducted with probable cause to believe a traffic violation has occurred, or when the officer has a reasonable suspicion the occupants are involved in criminal activity.”).

¹⁰ Notably, because Jones’s vehicle was directly in front of him as soon as he exited the bus station, Frasier certainly was *not* scanning the parking lot to spot the person who was picking him up. (R. p. 38).

rea”); United States v. Garcia, 339 F.3d 116, 119 (2d Cir. 2003) (recognizing conduct consistent with drug trafficking, such as engaging in what appears to be “counter-surveillance,” can support a finding of reasonable suspicion); United States v. Smith, 201 F.3d 1317, 1323 (11th Cir. 2000) (holding officers possessed reasonable suspicion for an investigatory seizure based on a number of facts, including the fact Smith’s confederate “scanned and surveilled the terminal, watching every person who passed by him in the bus station”); United States v. Jaramillo, 891 F.2d 620, 627 (7th Cir. 1989) (finding the Jaramillos’ act of scanning the airport in a manner suggestive of counter-surveillance after getting off a plane supported a finding of reasonable suspicion); United States v. Gaviria, 740 F.2d 174, 182 (2d Cir. 1984) (concluding the suspects’ behavior in “cautiously” leaving a building and “looking up and down the block before proceeding” supported a finding of reasonable suspicion). And, based on that, Sergeant Pritchard quickly alerted Officer Hall his suspicions had been raised by what he had observed after Frasier exited the bus station. See United States v. Ventresca, 380 U.S. 102, 111 (1965) (recognizing an officer can rely upon the observations of a fellow officer engaged in a common investigation even when seeking to establish probable cause for a warrant).

Additionally, upon stopping Jones’s vehicle a short time later, Officer Hall, who was personally aware an experienced fellow officer had just observed Frasier engaging in behavior perceived to be “suspicious” or “funny” at a bus station, immediately noticed Jones’s pants were fully unzipped, and Jones’s pants were still unzipped when she subsequently exited her vehicle. In light of his training and experience, Officer Hall was aware criminals regularly attempt to hide contraband in the crotches of their pants to safeguard it, and Officer Hall believed that indicator to be of such significance he advised another officer about it during the course of the stop. Accordingly, due to the fact Jones’s pants were unzipped, Officer Hall’s suspicions that criminal

activity may be afoot were legitimately raised, and they were further raised by Jones's unusual act of opening her car door during the stop, which constituted abnormal behavior from the behavior he ordinarily observed during the typical stop.¹¹ See United States v. Smith, 549 F.3d 355, 360 (6th Cir. 2008) (considering the fact Smith's pants were unzipped, which was consistent with the officer's knowledge drug traffickers commonly hide contraband in the crotch area, as a pertinent factor in concluding a search was supported by probable cause); see also United States v. Brignoni-Ponce, 422 U.S. 873, 885 (1975) (recognizing the presence of unusual behavior may be relevant to a finding of reasonable suspicion).

Furthermore, upon approaching Jones's vehicle, Officer Hall noticed Frasier was exhibiting signs of heightened nervousness and appeared to be attempting to avoid making eye contact with him, and the officer felt like Frasier's level of nervousness was significant enough to warrant mentioning it to another officer. In light of the officer's experience from conducting thousands of traffic stops, Frasier's unusual nervousness supported an inference criminal activity may have been afoot. See Moore, 415 S.C. at 254, 781 S.E.2d at 902 ("Moore exhibited excessive nervousness in the judgment of the officer, which lends support to a finding of reasonable suspicion to prolong the traffic stop."); see also United States v. Johnson, 364 F.3d 1185, 1192 (10th Cir. 2004) ("[N]ervousness, even if it may be a normal reaction, is still among

¹¹ Beyond that, Officer Hall also believed Jones's acts of repeatedly changing lanes and failing to stop for over forty seconds after he activated his vehicle's blue lights were atypical and, therefore, may have been an indicator of criminal activity. See State v. Wallace, 392 S.C. 47, 55, 707 S.E.2d 451, 455 (Ct. App. 2011) (considering the fact Wallace abnormally braked after the officer initiated the traffic stop as a factor supporting a finding of reasonable suspicion), cert. dismissed as improvidently granted, 401 S.C. 264, 737 S.E.2d 480 (2012); see also United States v. Bizier, 111 F.3d 214, 218 (1st Cir. 1997) (finding the fact "it took longer than usual for Bizier to pull over to the roadside" was an appropriate factor justifying the troopers' ensuing actions when considered as part of the totality of the circumstances).

the pertinent factors a reasonable law enforcement officer would analyze in investigating possible crimes, and should not be completely disregarded.”).

Finally, during the course of the traffic stop, Officer Hall repeatedly asked Frasier and Jones where they were coming from, and the pair repeatedly failed to answer that innocuous and easy-to-answer question despite it being a simply query anyone who had just left one place bound for another should have had no trouble answering without any difficulty. Cf. State v. Alston, 422 S.C. 270, 290, 811 S.E.2d 747, 757 (2018) (plurality opinion) (Few, J., concurring) (characterizing as suspicious Alston’s inability to be consistent on “a subject anybody ought to be able to speak consistently about—the number and ages of his children”). In light of the fact Frasier and Jones should obviously have known where they just came from and would not have had a logical or innocent reason to keep that information from the officer unless it was in some way suggestive of wrongdoing, Officer Hall correctly perceived their evasiveness in responding to that particular question the first *six times* he asked it to be a strong indicator something was amiss. See United States v. Riley, 684 F.3d 758, 764 (8th Cir. 2012) (explaining “difficulty in answering basic questions about [the individual’s] itinerary” can support a finding of reasonable suspicion); United States v. Tinnie, 629 F.3d 749, 752 (7th Cir. 2011) (recognizing evasiveness or silence in response to simple questions can support a finding of reasonable suspicion); see also United States v. Cortez, 449 U.S. 411, 418 (1981) (“[A] trained officer draws inferences and makes deductions—inferences and deductions that might well elude an untrained person.”).

Individually, none of those factors may have been sufficient to rise to level of reasonable suspicion. Cf. Sokolow, 490 U.S. at 9 (“Any one of these factors is not by itself proof of any illegal conduct and is quite consistent with innocent travel. But we think taken together they amount to reasonable suspicion.”). However, when those factors are viewed *collectively* as

required, together they provided the highly-experienced officers involved in Frasier’s case with the minimal level of objective justification necessary to satisfy the reasonable suspicion standard’s low bar, which permitted an extension of the traffic stop to allow them to investigate their suspicions further. See District of Columbia v. Wesby, ___ U.S. ___, 138 S. Ct. 577, 588 (2018) (recognizing “the whole is often greater than the sum of its parts—especially when the parts are viewed in isolation” and explaining even the higher probable cause standard “does not require officers to rule out a suspect’s innocent explanation for suspicious facts”); cf. Kansas v. Glover, ___ U.S. ___, 140 S. Ct. 1183, 1190 (2020) (concluding an officer possessed “more than reasonable suspicion” to initiate a seizure based on his knowledge of just three facts: (1) someone was driving a truck with a specific license plate; (2) the truck’s registered owner had a revoked driver’s license; and (3) the vehicle linked to the registered owner based on the observed license plate’s information matched the observed vehicle); Terry v. Ohio, 392 U.S. 1, 28 (1968) (holding an officer’s actions, which were based on the officer observing Terry and his confederate simply walk by and look in a store window several times, in effectuating a detention and frisk search were constitutionally reasonable because they were not “the product of a volatile or inventive imagination” or “undertaken simply as an act of harassment” and, instead, were reasonably tempered). Accordingly, the trial judge properly denied the suppression motion, and, in light of the deferential standard of review that was applicable, the Court of Appeals correctly affirmed the trial judge’s ruling on appeal as it was supported by the evidence and testimony presented during trial.¹² See Moore, 415 S.C. at 253, 781 S.E.2d at 901 (“The question before

¹² As part of his appellate challenge to the trial judge’s ruling on the suppression motion, Frasier throughout his brief faults the trial judge for the purported “general” nature of her ruling. (Pet. Br. p. 9; p. 19). Importantly though, Frasier did *not* raise any issues concerning the sufficiency of the ruling to the trial judge and did *not* ask the trial judge for a more detailed ruling, including after the trial judge followed her ruling by asking defense counsel if she had “miss[ed]

the court of appeals was whether there was any evidence to support the trial court’s finding of reasonable suspicion—not the court of appeals’ independent view of the facts.”); State v. Wright, 391 S.C. 436, 442, 706 S.E.2d 324, 326 (2011) (instructing “an appellate court must affirm if there is any evidence to support the ruling” in a case involving a search and seizure issue); see also Glover, 140 S. Ct. at 1190 (rejecting an interpretation of what is required to satisfy the reasonable suspicion standard because the rejected interpretation “would considerably narrow the daylight between the showing required for probable cause and the ‘less stringent’ showing required for reasonable suspicion”). Frasier’s conviction and the decision of the Court of Appeals should both be affirmed.

anything.” (R. pp. 134-135; p. 137). As a result, Frasier cannot now validly raise a complaint on appeal concerning the adequacy of the trial judge’s ruling since he did not raise any issue with the adequacy of that ruling to the trial judge during trial despite unquestionably having a full and fair opportunity to do so. See State v. Vang, 353 S.C. 78, 85, 577 S.E.2d 225, 228 (Ct. App. 2003) (finding any issue resulting from the trial judge’s failure to take a particular action was not preserved for appellate review because Vang did not ask the trial judge during trial to take the action Vang contended on appeal should have been taken).

II.

The Court of Appeals correctly affirmed the trial judge’s ruling denying the motion to suppress the cocaine and other incriminating evidence discovered during the search of Frasier’s pockets because the evidence and testimony presented during trial supported the trial judge’s finding Frasier freely and voluntarily consented to a search of his person through both his words and actions, including his act of assuming a “search position,” and Frasier neither placed any express limits upon his consent, expressly revoked his consent at any point prior to the completion of the search, nor was coerced or threatened into providing his consent.

Frasier contends the Court of Appeals erred by affirming the trial judge’s ruling declining to suppress the evidence discovered during the search of his pockets. In support of that contention, Frasier maintains his words and actions should not have been construed as extending voluntary consent for the search of his person.¹³ To the contrary, evidence and testimony was presented during trial that supported a conclusion Frasier—through both his actions and words—freely and voluntarily consented to a search of his person without being threatened or coerced into doing so, and the evidence and testimony further supported a conclusion he neither placed any express limitations on his consent nor expressly revoked his consent once it was provided. Under those circumstances, the trial judge had a valid basis upon which to conclude Officer Hall’s search of Frasier’s person was conducted with Frasier’s voluntary consent, and, therefore, her ruling reaching just such a conclusion was neither lacking in evidentiary support nor clearly

¹³ Similar to what he did when challenging the constitutionality of the extension of the stop, Frasier has briefly referenced Article I, Section 10 of the South Carolina Constitution as part of his challenge to propriety of the consent-based search of his person. (Pet. Br. p. 23). However, in doing so, Frasier has not even directly argued the search violated the state constitution and, instead, has simply noted his suppression motion at the trial level alleged a violation of both the federal constitution and state constitution. (Pet. Br. pp. 23-27). Under such circumstances, Frasier’s conclusory reference to Article I, Section 10 without supporting argument cannot be and is not sufficient to legitimately present any issues concerning our state constitution to this Court for review. See Prudential Ins. Co. of Am. v. Murphy, 207 S.C. 324, 329, 35 S.E.2d 586, 587 (1945) (“It is also alleged in the petition that the tax violates a section of our State Constitution, but the point was not argued and is, therefore, deemed to have been abandoned in accord with the established rule.”), overruled on other grounds by McCall by Andrews v. Batson, 285 S.C. 243, 329 S.E.2d 741 (1985).

erroneous. Accordingly, the trial judge did not reversibly err by denying the suppression motion, and the Court of Appeals correctly affirmed her factually-supported ruling on appeal pursuant to the applicable standard of review. Frasier’s conviction and the decision of the Court of Appeals should both be affirmed.

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